IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROGER	LEE	CHERRY,	
		Appellant,	

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. 71,341

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY'LY Clerk FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

LARRY B. HENDERSON ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, Florida 32014 Phone: 904/252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The state charged Roger Lee Cherry by Indictment with burglary of a dwelling with an assault $\frac{1}{2}$, grand theft seconddegree $\frac{2}{}$, and two counts of first-degree murder $\frac{3}{}$ (R1070-1071) $\frac{4}{}$. The matter proceeded to trial in the Circuit Court for Volusia County, Florida, the Honorable Uriel Blount, Jr. presiding. The jury found Cherry quilty of all counts as charged (1029 - 1031, 1235 - 1238).

The penalty proceeding occurred the next day. The state presented no additional evidence. The defense introduced only a single recent psychiatric evaluation of Roger Cherry

Violation of Section 810.02(2)(a) Florida Statutes (1985)

Violation of Section 812.014 Florida Statutes (1985)

 $[\]frac{1}{\frac{2}{3}}$ Violations of Section 782.04(1)(a) Florida Statutes (1985)

 $[\]overline{4}/$) refers to the record on appeal of the instant case. (R

(R1166-1169). At the state's request, the court instructed the jury on four aggravating circumstances, those being an especially heinous, atrocious or cruel killing $\frac{5}{}$, a murder committed in the course of a burglary $\frac{6}{}$, a prior conviction of a violent felony $\frac{7}{}$, and a murder committed for pecuniary gain $\frac{8}{}$ (R1033-1034,1037). The court later found each of these aggravating circumstances to exist (R1241-1244). At defense counsel's request the jury received instructions on the mitigating factors of extreme mental or emotional disturbance $\frac{9}{}$, lack of capacity to appreciate criminality of conduct $\frac{10}{}$, a murder committed while under duress $\frac{11}{}$, and any other aspect of Roger Cherry's character or record (R1034,1037). Following deliberations, the jury recommended, by 7-5 and 9-3 margins, that sentences of death be imposed for the first-degree felony murders of Leonard and Esther Wayne (R1061-1063,1239-1240).

Judge Blount adjudicated Cherry guilty of burglary with an assault, grand theft second-degree, and two counts of firstdegree felony murder (R1253) and sentenced Cherry (without the benefit of a sentencing guidelines scoresheet) to a life term of imprisonment on the burglary with an assault conviction, to a concurrent five year term of imprisonment on the grand theft conviction, and to two death sentences on the murder convictions

5/	Section	921.141(5)(h),	Florida	Statutes	(1985)
6/	Section	921.141(5)(d),	Florida	Statutes	(1985)
7/	Section	921.141(5)(b),	Florida	Statutes	(1985)
8/	Section	921.141(5)(f),	Florida	Statutes	(1985)
9/	Section	921.141(6)(b),	Florida	Statutes	(1985)
10/	Section	921.141(6)(f),	Florida	Statutes	(1985)
11/	Section	921.141(6)(e),	Florida	Statutes	(1985)

- 2 -

(R1255-1258). The court found nothing in mitigation (R1241-1244, Appendix A).

A timely notice of appeal was filed October 21, 1987 (R1262) and the Office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent Cherry for the purpose of appeal (R1267). This brief follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On June 28, 1986 Jack Wayne and wife went to visit Jack's 79 year old mother and 80 year old father. The parents lived by themselves in a house across from the National Guard Armory in Deland (R297-298). The Waynes arrived around noon (R300). Jack Wayne noticed that his parents' Fairmont automobile was gone, which was not unusual (R301). Seeing that a door had been left open, Jack Wayne entered the house and saw that the television and a lamp were on (R304). Going into the bedroom, he found both parents lying dead on the floor approximately two feet apart (R308).

Esther Wayne had received several blows to the head and neck area (R391-392). She had a fracture of the left temporal bone (R397). The cause of her death was subdural hematoma due to the head injuries (R396-398). The blows were consistent with being inflicted by a fist (R413). When asked how long Mrs. Wayne would have survived these injuries, the medical examiner testified, "It would appear that she didn't survive more than a matter of minutes, maybe ten, fifteen minutes." (R399). The medical examiner determined that Leonard Wayne died from heart disease and opined without objection that the heart failure occurred when Wayne was personally confronted by an assailant (R407-409). The only trauma to Leonard Wayne's body was on the right foot which had recent bruising and an abrasion where the superficial layers of skin had been rubbed away (R402).

The police responded immediately when summoned. It was learned that \$1,300 in cash and a loaded pistol remained in the

- 4 -

house (R316,369). Mr. Wayne's trousers were on a chair in the bedroom; the pockets had been turned inside out (R505). The police were unable to find Mr. Wayne's wallet (R505). The telephone wire had been cut at the junction box on the outside of the house (R497-496). Apparently, whoever cut the wire also cut himself because a bloody piece of paper had been discarded by the junction box and droplets of blood were found on the walkway leading to the porch (R498-501). A screen and three jalousietype window panes had been removed at the porch, and police discovered three such window panes in the bushes near the house; there was blood on at least one of the window panes (R346,347,498-499). A police helicopter conducted a search of the area and the Wayne's Fairmont was found in a wooded area approximately one mile from the Wayne residence (R328-330).

A Sun Bank is located three city blocks from the Wayne residence (R519). After receiving an alert concerning the Wayne's account, an employee of the bank notified the police that two of the Waynes' bank cards had been retained by the bank's automatic teller machine at 1:58 o'clock a.m. on June 28, 1986 (R474-475,481). The machine automatically captures a card when the operator fails to successfully enter the secret code after three attempts (R471). Six unsuccessful attempts were made to use the two cards from 1:55 a.m. to 2:00 a.m. (R481).

The police developed Roger Cherry as a suspect primarily through Lorraine Neloms, who was Cherry's 24-year-old girlfriend (R426,511). Ms. Neloms lived with Cherry at 408 S. Garfield in Deland (R427). Their apartment was one city block

- 5 -

from the Wayne residence (R519) and five blocks from the wooded area where the Waynes' car was found (R521). The entire area is interlaced with foot paths (R521).

Ms. Neloms testified at trial that she and Cherry went to a friend's house on June 27, 1986 and that they returned home around 11:30 p.m. (R428-430). After talking for a while Cherry left, stating that he was going by the armory because he needed some money (R431-432). Neloms slept until Cherry returned around an hour later (R432). Cherry was carrying some rifles and he had a cut thumb (R432). He explained to Neloms that he cut his thumb when cutting a line (R433). Neloms claimed that Cherry displayed a brown wallet and a driver's license belonging to an individual named "Wayne" (R434). Cherry also showed Neloms some bank cards for Sun Bank (R435). After staying at the house for ten minutes, Cherry again left, stating that he was going to the bank (R435-436). He returned around fifteen minutes later and said that the cards had stuck in the machine and that he was going to ditch the car (R435-437).

Ms. Neloms testified that Cherry told her the follow-

ing:

Q: (Prosecutor) That night whenever Roger came in with the guns and the wallet, did you ask him what had happened or where he had been?

A: (Ms. Neloms) Yeah, I asked him where he had been.

Q: And what did he tell you?

A: He told me he had been by the armory. He told me he had went into this house by the armory.

- 6 -

Q. Did he tell you what had happened inside the house?

A. Yeah. When he went in there, the people was awoke and saw him and the lady tried to fight him or something and he hit her and pushed the man and he grabbed his chest and he found their car keys and took their car.

(R437).

The next day Neloms and Cherry drove by the area where the Fairmont had been abandoned and they saw police all around the car (R437). Later that evening while watching the news Cherry and Neloms discovered that the people at the house had been killed (R438-439). She asked Cherry if he had killed the people and he said he never killed anyone (R439). Neloms was with Cherry when he thereafter threw out a pair of shoes and a pocket knife as they drove to Neloms' mother's house (R439-440). The police recovered a pair of shoes and a knife along the route Neloms claimed to have taken with Cherry (R440-441). Cherry was arrested in his apartment while watching television (R441). At the time of his arrest, Cherry's right thumb was cut (R442, State's Exhibit 31). At trial, Cherry explained that he had cut his thumb while beheading a fish (R847-850).

The police found a Negroid hair amid sweepings taken from the Wayne residence; the hair was inconsistent with Cherry's hair (R802-803). The police compared Cherry's blood with blood samples that had been recovered from the Wayne's residence, automobile and bank cards. The expert serologist who testified at trial stated that the most that could be determined insofar as the bank cards was that human blood was present on one (R635).

- 7 -

Cherry's blood was consistent with the blood found on the paper recovered by the cut phone wire (R641-642). The blood on the jalousie window pane was consistent with Cherry's blood (R644-645); that blood was also consistent with Esther Wayne's blood (R657-658). Blood found on a towel recovered from the front seat of the Wayne's Fairmont (R568) was consistent with Cherry's blood and inconsistent with any of the victims' blood (R647).

A latent fingerprint expert identified a left thumbprint of Cherry on one of the jalousie window panes found in the yard (R693). Another left thumbprint identified as Cherry's was on a metal tray found in the trunk of the Wayne's Fairmont (R689,692). Cherry's palmprint was found on the doorjamb of the bedroom wherein the Wayne's were found (R680,687). Cherry explained at trial that the Waynes had hired him to mow their lawn and do their windows approximately a week prior to their death (R857-860). He testified that he was never inside the Wayne's house (R873). He denied killing the Waynes (R877). Cherry believes that Ronnie Chamberlain told Neloms what to say (R872). Chamberlain is Neloms' current boyfriend, who was seeing Neloms when she was supposed to have been going with Cherry (R853).

Cherry testified that on the night the Waynes were killed he left Neloms around 11:30 p.m. and walked to Spring Hill to participate in a crap game. He won some money and walked back home (R839-843).

- 8 -

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

POINT I: The trial judge excluded the testimony of a defense witness because the witness was disclosed late to the state during the trial. The cursory inquiry conducted by the court into the late disclosure revealed that the identity of the witness was learned by defense counsel on the very morning that witness was to have testified. The witness would have provided relevant information bearing on the credibility of Lorraine Neloms, the key witness of the state. The exclusion of that testimony was too extreme a sanction in a death case where other remedies were available. The ruling violated the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. The convictions must be reversed and the matter remanded for retrial.

POINT II: Roger Cherry was sentenced for two non-capital offenses without the benefit of a guidelines scoresheet. Compliance with Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.701 is mandatory for all offenses which are not capital felonies. Burglary and theft are not capital felonies. The life and five year sentences imposed for these offenses must accordingly be reversed and the matter remanded for resentencing on those offenses within the guidelines.

POINT III: The trial court found as separate aggravating circumstances that the murders were committed during the commission of a felony (burglary) and that the murders were committed for pecuniary gain. Pursuant to <u>Mills v. State</u>, <u>infra</u>, such double consideration of the same aspect of the crime is improper, in

- 9 -

that the intent to commit a theft, necessary to support the burglary conviction, is identical to the intent necessary to establish a murder committed for pecuniary gain. Accordingly, because the trial judge erroneously twice considered the same aspect of the murder to recommend and impose death sentences, the sentences must be reversed and sentences of life imprisonment imposed pursuant to the argument set forth in Point V.

POINT IV: The trial court found that both murders were especially heinous, atrocious or cruel. There are no additional circumstances that set this case apart from the norm. The evidence of what transpired is wholly circumstantial and entirely consistent with a theory not involving especially heinous, atrocious or cruel murders. The trial court failed to articulate any justification for this aggravating circumstance and in fact again erroneously relied on an aspect of the crime already contained in a prior finding. Because the trial court improperly considered this non-applicable aggravating circumstance when imposing the sentences, the death sentences must be reversed and the matter remanded for imposition of life sentences as set forth in Point V.

POINT V: Only two statutory aggravating circumstances exist in this case. Both are marginal, in that one will necessarily exist in every felony murder (murder during commission of a felony) and the other (prior conviction for violent felony, robbery) is not in this case sufficiently detailed to allow meaningful weighing.

- 10 -

The circumstances of the crime are such that the death penalty is unwarranted. From a proportionate standpoint, this case just does not qualify as a death case, as can be demonstrated by comparison to existing precedent such as <u>Norris v. State</u>, <u>infra</u>. The death sentences should be vacated and the matter remanded with directions that Cherry be resentenced to life imprisonment because the ultimate sanction does not comport with the facts of this case.

<u>POINT VI</u>: The death penalty in Florida is being arbitrarily and capriciously applied as a result of vague and inspecific statutory language. Decisions of this Court have not provided consistent results under the same or substantially similar facts. Moreover, this Court has applied the wrong standard of review concerning the presence of mitigating circumstances. Instead of consistently providing plenary review in all cases, this Court considers itself bound to an abuse of discretion standard when the jury recommends death. The death penalty statute in Florida, as applied, violates the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments. The death sentences must be reversed and sentences of life imprisonment imposed.

<u>POINT VII</u>: It is unnecessary that a jury sentence a defendant. However, Due Process requires that the jury determine the defendant's guilt or innocence of the crime for the sentence imposed. If the verdict does not include elements that define an offense, an increased sentence for that offense cannot be imposed. It is

- 11 -

the prosecutor's burden to secure a jury verdict for all elements of the offense. Aggravating circumstances are limited solely to those specifically provided by statute. They actually define the crime of capital first-degree murder that is punishable by death. The aggravating circumstances thus become elements of the crime that must be found by the jury before the increased sanction of death may be lawfully imposed.

POINT VIII; As is affirmatively stated in the findings of fact, the trial court did not consider a psychiatric report that was introduced by the defense during the penalty phase of trial. That report contained relevant mitigating information, such as the fact that Cherry had an alcoholic mother, an abusive father, and a controlled substance habit. The Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution require a sentencer to consider all relevant mitigating evidence proffered by a defendant prior to imposition of the death penalty. Because the trial court affirmatively disclaimed considering such evidence, the death penalties must be reversed and the matter remanded for resentencing.

<u>POINT IX</u>: Convictions and sentences for burglary with an assault and felony murder constitute double jeopardy, in that the defendant is twice being sanctioned for the same conduct. The "assault" aspect of the burglary offense is an enhancement that increases the sanction from a third-degree felony to a first-degree felony punishable by life imprisonment. That same assault which

- 12 -

resulted in the death of another human being during the commission of a burglary is the basis for first-degree felony murder. The legislature did not intend such multiple punishments in this situation, and in any event the multiple sanctions violate the Double Jeopardy clause of the Florida Constitution and the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DENIED CHERRY DUE PROCESS AND A FAIR TRIAL BY PREVENTING A DEFENSE WITNESS FROM TESTIFYING DUE TO LATE DISCLOSURE OF THE WITNESS BY THE DEFENSE.

Lorraine Neloms was perhaps the key witness for the state. She testified that on the night of the murder Cherry left their apartment and returned around an hour later (R431-432). Neloms testified that when Cherry returned he displayed a brown wallet, and that inside the wallet was a license (R434). When asked by the prosecutor what she could observe about the license Neloms stated, "It was an old man and I saw the last name was Wayne." (R434-435). On cross-examination Neloms stated "He [Cherry] opened up the wallet and I saw the driver's license." (R450). Jack Wayne testified that his father did not drive due to his poor eyesight (R302), but claimed that his father had a driver's license (R313).

During presentation of its case defense counsel called as a defense witness Mr. Laughter. After the witness was sworn the state interposed an objection because the witness had not been listed by the defense on the witness list (R813-814). Defense counsel explained that the results of a late investigation had been received by him just that morning (R814). Counsel stated, "It's my understanding that [Mr. Laughter] will testify not as to whether or not Mr. Wayne possessed a driver's license card but rather that he did not have, in effect, a driver's license or at least that is my understanding at this time as communicated to me by Mr. Stephens." (R815)

- 14 -

When the court questioned the materiality of such testimony, defense counsel explained that Wayne's driver's license had not been reissued since 1970, and that such proof went to the credibility of Ms. Neloms' testimony about having viewed Cherry with Wayne's driver's license (R816). The court asked the state to respond and the prosecutor stated that he did not know if a full blown Richardson hearing for something of that nature was necessary. "We are caught a little flat footed because we never knew he existed. So, as a result, we have no way to disprove or prove anything about the license. It might not have been a license, it might have been some sort of I.D. card. If this Court is to permit this witness to testify, I would at least like a short break to be able to talk to him and find out what his testimony is going to be before he does testi-(R816). When defense counsel again apologized for the late fy." disclosure, the court stated, "No apology is necessary, I'm not going to allow him to testify. Bring in the jury." (R816). This summary ruling was plain error and a denial of due process.

In <u>Cooper v. State</u>, 336 So.2d 1133 (Fla. 1976), this Court affirmed a murder conviction where the state presented the testimony of numerous witnesses, notwithstanding the state's failure to previously list them as witnesses.

> Once again the state may have violated a rule. But when that fact was discovered, the trial judge properly denied the request to exclude the witness or to recess the trial to enable defense counsel to obtain a ballistics expert of his own. Seeking a less drastic remedy, he recessed the court to allow the defense counsel to depose the expert before he was called to the

> > - 15 -

stand. Since the defense should have been aware of the state's proposed proof by reason of information already known to it, the trial judge acted within the scope of his discretion to remedy whatever prejudice might have resulted from the state's breach.

<u>Cooper</u> at 1138. As this Court noted in <u>Ziegler v. State</u>, 402 So.2d 365 (Fla. 1981), "The failure to observe and comply with the rule of discovery should be remedied in a manner consistent with the seriousness of the breach." Id at 372.

A trial judge most certainly has great discretion in determining the appropriate sanctions that should attend a discovery violation, ranging from a short recess to exclusion of testimony, other than the defendant's own testimony. <u>Williams v.</u> <u>Florida</u>, 399 U.S. 78, 90 S.Ct. 1893, 26 L.Ed.2d 446 (1970). Such discretion can only properly be exercised, however, after a full and adequate inquiry into all of the surrounding circumstances.

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