### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



ROGER LEE CHERRY,

Appellant,

MAY 25 1823 CLERK, SAY LEVEL COURT B١ Deputy Clark

CASE NO. 71,341

STATE OF FLORIDA,

v.

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

PAMELA D. CICHON ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 125 N. Ridgewood Avenue Fourth Floor Daytona Beach, FL 32014 (904) 252-1067

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

### TOPICAL

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

**POINT I:** The trial court did not abuse its discretion in not allowing the defense witness from the Department of Motor Vehicles to testify. That the witness had not been listed on appellant's witness list in violation of the rules of discovery, and that the proposed testimony of the witness was immaterial to anything at issue in the case are sufficient to support the propriety of the court's ruling. Any error in this regard would indeed be harmless since the lack of this witness's testimony did not contribute to the conviction.

**POINT II:** The procedural error of not preparing guidelines scoresheets for the two non-capital offenses was harmless in a case such as this and does not warrant reversal where appellant has demonstrated no actual injury resulting from the error. It is almost certain that the five year sentence imposed for the grand theft of the Waynes' automobile was not a departure sentence, and the concurrent life sentence imposed for the burglary with an assault, if it was a departure from the guidelines, would be supported without a doubt by the clear and convincing reason that appellant had contemporaneous convictions of two unscored capital felonies.

**POINT III:** Whether the aggravating circumstances that the murder was committed for pecuniary gain and in the course of a burglary refer to the same aspect of the crime is wholly dependent upon the facts of the case. Even if this was a double recitation of proven factors in this case, resentencing is not required where there were other statutory aggravating factors and

- 3 -

no established mitigating circumstances.

**POINT IV:** That the murders of Leonard and Esther Wayne were especially heinous, atrocious or cruel is supported by the evidence presented in this case, and the trial court properly found that aggravating factor to apply. The brutal and merciless killing of a helpless, elderly man and his wife at night in their own home for the primary purpose of pecuniary gain are circumstances which make this crime heinous, atrocious and cruel.

A comparative analysis of this case to others in POINT V: which this court has approved or disapproved the death penalty will show that the death penalty in this case is not disproportionate to the crimes. The trial court found four aggravating circumstances and supported mitigating no circumstances. Even if the only aggravating factors were the two to which appellant has raised no objection, death would still be the proper penalty where we know that the trial court found no factors in mitigation which would outweigh them.

POINT VI: Appellant's constitutional attacks on his death sentences were not preserved for appellate review and there has been no showing of fundamental error. Thus, the issue should be Furthermore, this claim has previously been deemed waived. rejected by this court as being without merit. It should be concluded that appellant's sentences of death were constitutionally imposed.

**POINT VII:** Appellant's claim that his sentences of death could not be imposed because the jury was not instructed on the statutory aggravating circumstances during the guilt phase is

- 4 -

entirely without merit in light of his conceding the facial validity of Florida's death penalty statutes. The aggravating circumstances are not elements of the crime of first degree felony murder, but are purely sentencing criteria on which the jury needs no instruction considering Florida's use of a bifurcated trial in capital cases.

The words, "psychiatric reports," used by the POINT VIII: trial court in its written findings of fact in support of the death penalty were a reference to things which may have existed in the old court records of Volusia County regarding Roger Cherry, and which were things the court should not have considered in making its sentencing determinations. The court was affirmatively stating that it did not consider anything which That the trial court did consider the it should not have. psychiatric report introduced by appellant at the penalty phase is clearly evidenced by additional language found in the findings of fact.

**POINT IX:** It has previously been found by this court that the legislature intended multiple punishments when both a murder and a felony occur during a single transaction. Therefore, it was not double jeopardy for appellant to be convicted of felony murder and the underlying burglary. Neither was appellant being punished twice for the same crime by the imposition of sentences for both burglary with an assault and felony murder where the assault could be committed prior to and without the murder.

- 5 -

### POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT DENY CHERRY DUE PROCESS AND A FAIR TRIAL BY PREVENTING A DEFENSE WITNESS FROM TESTIFYING.

The state objected to Mr. Laughter from the Department of Motor Vehicles testifying on the grounds that he had not been listed as a witness on the defense's witness list (R 813-814). In ruling on the objection, the trial court merely stated that it was not going to allow Mr. Laughter to testify and did not state a specific reason for the ruling (R 816). The trial court has wide discretion in areas concerning the admission or exclusion of evidence, and unless an abuse of discretion can be shown, its rulings will not be disturbed. <u>Welty v. State</u>, 402 So.2d 1159 (Fla. 1981).

The fact that the expected testimony of Mr. Laughter had no relevance to the issue for which its introduction was being sought was a sufficient basis for the court's ruling it inadmissible. Appellant claims that the testimony of Mr. Laughter was relevant for the purpose of impeaching Lorraine Neloms, the key witness for the state.

Although Lorraine testified that Roger Cherry came home late on the night of the murders and showed her a wallet, which she never examined, but in which she saw a license with an old man's picture on it and the name Wayne (R 434-435), the defense attorney informed the court, "it's my understanding that he [the witness] will testify not to as whether or not Mr. Wayne possessed a driver's license card but rather that he did not

- 6 -

have, in effect a driver's license . . . " \* \* \* "The driver's license as I understand, had not been reissued since 1970." (R 815-816)

As it turned out, Mr. Laughter could only testify that Mr. Wayne did not possess a valid Florida driver's license. The trial court questioned the materiality of this evidence (R 815), and as the state pointed out, the license viewed by Lorraine Neloms "might not have even been a license, it might have been some sort of I.D. card." (R 816) In fact, it wasn't until cross-examination, when defense counsel referred to the contents of the wallet as a "driver's license," that Lorraine Neloms also called it a "driver's" license (R 450).

Clearly, the testimony of Mr. Laughter would not have served to refute that Lorraine Neloms saw something at least resembling a driver's license with the name of Wayne and an old man's picture on it in the brown wallet showed to her by Roger Cherry. It is not unlikely that Mr. Wayne had retained his expired driver's license for identification purposes, and even if it had not been issued since 1970, the picture on it would have still been that of a 64-year-old Leonard Wayne, who would have undoubtedly looked like an old man to 24-year-old Lorraine Neloms (R 425).

Further, the inquiry conducted by the trial court was sufficient under <u>Richardson v. State</u>, 246 So.2d 771 (Fla. 1971) to determine the degree of fault attributable to the defense for the discovery violation as well as the prejudice to the prosecution. It is well-established that a court's failure to

- 7 -

call an inquiry a "<u>Richardson</u>" hearing or to make formal findings concerning each of the pertinent <u>Richardson</u> considerations does not constitute reversible error. <u>See</u>, <u>Baker v. State</u>, 438 So.2d 905 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983); <u>Wilkerson v. State</u>, 461 So.2d 1376 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985).

The trial judge inquired of both counsels and learned that from an investigation initiated by the defense earlier that week, they had just received the results that morning and it was about those that the witness was to testify. This investigation was no more involved than checking with the Florida State Department of Motor Vehicles as to whether Leonard Wayne had a driver's license (R 814). The defense, knowing earlier in the week that it was conducting this investigation, could have disclosed to the prosecution in advance that it may be calling someone from the Department of Motor Vehicles. Such discovery violation must be considered more than inadvertent. The prosecutor informed the court that the state, having never known that the proposed witness existed, was being placed in a position of having "no way to disprove or prove anything about the license" (R 816), which was to be the subject of Mr. Laughter's testimony. Forseeing the possibility that this witness might be allowed to testify, the prosecutor added that he would "at least like a short break to be able to talk to him [Mr. Laughter] and find out what his testimony is going to be before he does testify." (R 816) This should not be construed as a simple solution to the problem, but was the least that the state required in this situation and would certainly not have afforded the state the necessary opportunity

- 8 -

to obtain witnesses in rebuttal. The failure of the appellant to comply with the rules of discovery regarding this witness prevented the state from adequately preparing for trial.

> It may well be true that alternative sanctions are adeguate and appropriate in most cases, but it is equally clear that they would be less effective than the preclusion sanction and that there are instances which in they would perpetuate rather than limit prejudice to the State and the harm to the adversary process.

> > \* \* \*

It is elementary, of course, that a court may not trial ignore the fundamental character of the defendant's right offer the to testimony of witnesses in his But the mere invocation of favor. that right cannot automatically and invariably outweigh countervailing public interests. The integrity of the adversary process, which depends both on the presentation of reliable evidence and rejection the of unreliable evidence; the interest in the fair and efficient administration of justice; and the potential prejudice to the truthdetermining function of the trial process must also weigh in the balance.

\* \* \*

It is .... reasonable to presume that there is something suspect about a defense witness who is not identified until after the eleventhhour has passed.

Taylor v. Illinois, 108 S.Ct. 646, 655 (1988).

The Compulsory Process Clause of the Sixth Amendment does not create an absolute bar to the preclusion of the testimony of the defense witness as a sanction for violating a discovery rule, and a defendant's right to offer the testimony of witnesses in his favor should extend only to **material** defense witnesses and **relevant** testimony.

Should the trial court's exclusion of Mr. Laughter be deemed error, it was harmless in view of the fact that the only thing to be proven by the witness's testimony was that Leonard Wayne's Florida Driver's License had expired, which was irrelevant to any issue in the case. Where the testimony of Mr. Laughter would not serve to refute Lorraine Neloms testimony, and the testimony of Leonard Wayne's son was that his father did possess a driver's license but allowed for the fact that it may have been invalid (R 313), there is no reasonable possibility that the lack of the evidence complained of might have contributed to Cherry's conviction. See, Schneble v. Florida, 405 U.S. 427, 92 S.Ct. 1056, 31 L.Ed.2d 340 (1972). Aside from Lorraine Neloms' testimony regarding the driver's license with Mr. Wayne's name picture on (R 435), Lorraine provided additional and it information about the bank cards and Cherry's profusely bleeding thumb (R 433-436, 450), which was substantiated by other evidence presented by the state, and all pointed to Roger Cherry's guilt of the burglary. Cherry's guilt was further proven by the testimony of the crime lab analyst that there was human blood on the bank card (R 635) and that the blood found on the towel in the Waynes' stolen vehicle and on a piece of paper found outside the southwest corner of the house was entirely consistent with Roger Cherry's blood and could not have come from either of the

- 10 -

Waynes (R 640, 647-648). That evidence coupled with the fact that Cherry's left palm print was found on a door frame in the Wayne's home (R 680), that his left thumbprint was found on the metal tray in the trunk of Leonard Wayne's automobile (R 692), and another left thumbprint was found on one of the panes of glass removed from the jalousie windows (R 693), is so overwhelming when compared to the proposed testimony of the excluded witness, that excluding it could not have possibly made any difference in the result of the trial. Therefore, any error in excluding the testimony of Mr. Laughter was indeed harmless.

### POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR BY IMPOSING DEPARTURE SENTENCES FOR THE NON-CAPITAL OFFENSES.

Guidelines sentences are mandated by statute for non-capital offenses such as burglary with an assault and second degree grand theft for which appellant was convicted. However, the trial court is also permitted by Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.701(d)(11) to depart from the guidelines up to the limit of the penalty provided by statute when imposing sentence if there is a clear and convincing reason for doing so. Appellant argues that his sentences for burglary with an assault and grand theft must be reversed and the matter remanded for resentencing for the sole reason that guidelines sentences were not imposed for those offenses. Appellee urges that since departures are permitted and there is an obvious clear and convincing reason to support the departure, appellant's sentences should be affirmed and no further judicial resources should be expended on resentencing where the outcome would inevitably be the same as it was in the original sentencing.

Recognizing that there were apparently no guidelines scoresheets prepared for the two non-capital offenses, appellee questions whether the sentences imposed were really departures. However, assuming <u>arguendo</u> that the sentences for the non-capital crimes were departures from the guidelines, the trial judge's failure to provide a written statement as to his reason for imposing the statutory maximum penalties should be considered

- 12 -

### harmless error.

In <u>State v. Jackson</u>, 478 So.2d 1054 (Fla. 1985), this court rejected the assertion that a transcript of oral statements made by the judge during sentencing would be sufficient to justify the written statement requirement for departure under the guidelines relying upon the reasoning in <u>Boynton v. State</u>, 473 So.2d 703 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985). Among those reasons was that the absence of written findings would force appellate courts to search the record for findings and underlying reasons for departure. <u>Id</u>. at 706-707.

The <u>Jackson</u> court did not, however, specifically address the question of harmless error in adopting its per se reversal rule. The state respectfully submits that while the reasoning of <u>Boynton</u> and <u>Jackson</u> is persuasive and compelling in some cases, that is not the situation in a case such as this where a single departure rationale clearly and convincingly exists, i.e., contemporaneous conviction of an unscored capital felony. "The fact that a defendant has been convicted of first degree murder, a capital felony which cannot be scored as an additional offense at conviction, may serve as a clear and convincing reason for departure." <u>McPhaul v. State</u>, 496 So.2d 1009 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986); Torres-Arboledo v. State, 13 F.L.W. 229 (Fla. March 24, 1988).

To reverse and remand for a resentencing would involve nothing more than the trial judge having his secretary type the above quotation and him affixing his signature underneath. Reversal is unjustified because of errors in matters of procedure unless <u>actual</u> injury resulting from that error, not the error alone, warrants reversal. <u>Martin v. State</u>, 100 Fla. 16, 129 So. 112 (1930); <u>Whitten v. State</u>, 86 Fla. 111, 97 So. 496 (1923). It cannot be said that the purported error has "injuriously affected the substantial rights of the appellant" especially given the statutory presumption against such a finding of prejudicial, as opposed to <u>harmless</u>, error. <u>See</u>, § 924.33, Fla. Stat. (1987); <u>Perri v. State</u>, 441 So.2d 606 (1983).

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